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UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

BEFORE THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 
 

COMMISSIONERS: Edith Ramirez, Chairwoman 
    Julie Brill 
     Maureen K. Ohlhausen 
    Joshua D. Wright 
    Terrell McSweeny 
                                                                                       
         ) 
              ) 
In the Matter of             ) 
              ) 
 680 Digital, Inc.       ) 
 A corporation, also d/b/a                  ) 

Nationwide Barcode,                 ) 
                                                                                      ) DOCKET NO. C- 
                   and                                                   ) 
          ) 
 Philip B. Peretz,      ) 

   an individual.           ) 
              ) 
         ) 
                                                                                      ) 

 
 

COMPLAINT 
 
 Pursuant to the provisions of the Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended, 15 U.S.C. 
§ 41, et seq., and by virtue of the authority vested in it by said Act, the Federal Trade 
Commission (“Commission”), having reason to believe that 680 Digital, Inc., also d/b/a 
Nationwide Barcode and Phil Peretz, (hereinafter sometimes collectively referred to as 
“Respondents”), have violated the provisions of Section 5 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 
15 U.S.C. § 45, and it appearing to the Commission that a proceeding by it in respect thereof 
would be in the public interest, hereby issues this Complaint stating its charges as follows: 
 

NATURE OF THE CASE 
 

1. 680 Digital, Inc., also d/b/a Nationwide Barcode (“Nationwide”), is one of the largest 
sellers of barcodes in the United States.  On multiple occasions, Nationwide invited two 
of its closest competitors, InstantUPCCodes.com (“Instant”) and Competitor A, to join 
with Nationwide in a collusive scheme to raise and fix prices for barcodes.  The collusive 
plan included invitations to match the higher prices of another barcode seller, Competitor 
B.  By inviting collusion, Nationwide endangered competition and violated Section 5 of 
the FTC Act.  
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PRELIMINARY ALLEGATIONS 
 
2. Respondent 680 Digital, Inc. also d/b/a Nationwide Barcode is a corporation organized, 

existing, and doing business under and by virtue of the laws of Washington, with its 
business mailing address at PO Box 2750, Issaquah, WA 98027. 

 
3. Respondent Philip B. Peretz is an individual living in Nevada and doing business in 

Nevada, with a mailing address of 3495 Lakeside Drive, # 144, Reno, NV 89509.  Mr. 
Peretz’s written communications to his competitors, as set forth below, were by email.  
 

4. The primary business of Nationwide is selling barcodes over the internet.  Nationwide 
operates a website that permits individuals to transmit written messages to Mr. Peretz.  
Instant’s written communications to Mr. Peretz, as set forth below, were transferred 
through this portal. 
 

5. Instant is owned and operated by an individual by the name of Jacob J. Alifraghis. 
  

JURISDICTION 
 

6. At all times relevant herein, Respondent 680 Digital has been, and is now, a corporation 
as "corporation" is defined in Section 4 of the Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. 
§ 44. 

7. The business practices of Respondents, including the acts and practices alleged herein, 
are in commerce or affect commerce, as “commerce” is defined in Section 4 of the 
Federal Trade Commission Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44. 
 

LINE OF COMMERCE 
 

8. A barcode is a unique 12-digit number that allows a retailer to track sales of products 
within its inventory system.  Universal product codes (“UPCs”) are the predominant form 
of barcodes used in the United States.  UPC barcodes are issued by GS1 (formerly the 
Uniform Commercial Council), a nonprofit group that sets standards for international 
commerce.  In order to avoid GS1 membership fees or minimum purchase requirements, 
many small businesses purchase UPC barcodes on the online secondary market. 

 
9. Nationwide, Instant and Competitor A are three of the largest sellers of barcodes in the 

United States.  Nationwide’s closest competitors, and the principal competitive 
constraints upon Nationwide’s pricing power, are Instant and Competitor A.  Competition 
between and among Instant, Nationwide, and Competitor A has driven down the prices 
for barcodes charged by each of these sellers. 
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INVITATIONS TO COLLUDE 
 

10. Prior to August 4, 2013, the principal of Instant, Mr. Alifraghis, had never communicated 
with the principals of Nationwide and Competitor A. 
 

11. On August 4, 2013, Mr. Alifraghis transmitted a long message to Nationwide and Mr. 
Peretz through Nationwide’s website.  Mr. Alifraghis sent the same message to 
Competitor A.  This message contained an explicit invitation to raise and fix prices of 
barcodes.  Mr. Alifraghis proposed that both Nationwide and Competitor A match the 
higher prices of Competitor B.  The email stressed that all three firms had to act in 
concert or the plan would not succeed.  Mr. Alifraghis proposed that the parties raise their 
prices within 48 hours:   

 
 

Hello Phil, Our company name is InstantUPCCodes.com, as you may be 
aware, we are one of your competitors within the same direct industry that you 
are in. The reason for this email is because of the constant price changing from 
multiple vendors within this industry. The 3 main problems are US, YOU and 
[Competitor A]. 
 
However, there is a specific problem with YOU and [Competitor A] in 
general and it only hurts YOUR business.  I want to explain this situation 
in its entirety so that you understand exactly where I ’m coming from and 
why all 3 of us are only digging our own graves in our own industry. 
 
When I got in this business (exactly one year ago), the prices per package were 
2-3x the amount per amount of UPC codes ordered. I made a promise to 
myself to never go lower than any of the competition even though I didn’t have 
a large customer base like my competitors. I would always match the prices of 
YOU and [Competitor A] specifically. Recently [Competitor A] was out of 
business until he came back and slammed his prices down again. So you 
know what I did? I went and matched his prices. The problem is that his prices 
were lower than yours which I knew you would lower yours once again, it was 
only a matter of time. 
 
Here’s the deal Phil, I’m your friend, not your enemy. My sales are doing 
excellent from the huge client base that we’ve built and our profits rise steadily 
every month. The problem is that there are only so many customers that need 
UPC codes in the first place and when we sell them for pennies, they won’t be 
coming back in the future for as much repeat business, because they stocked up 
on a huge bulk package and they are set for the next few years.   While our 
business might be booming now, it will only get worse in the future if we keep 
going at this pace. 
 
I can even assure you right now, that I will never lower my prices under yours, 
I will only match your prices. This problem has to stop between the 3 of us 
constantly lowering our prices.  Here’s what I’d like to do: 
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All 3 of us- US, YOU and [Competitor A] need to match the price that 
[Competitor B] has. The reason why they won’t lower their price is because they 
would kill their sales from their existing customer database. I am also going to 
send this email to [Competitor A] regarding this as well. I’d say that 48 hours 
would be an acceptable amount of time to get these price changes completed for 
all 3 of us. The thing is though, we all need to agree to do this or it won’t work. 
If [Competitor A] or you decide not to go through with the price change to 
match [Competitor B] pricing, then it won’t work, we need all 3 of us to do this . 
 
Reply and let me know if you are willing to do this or not.  In the mean time 
I will contact [Competitor A] with the same message and ask him if he’s 
okay with doing this.  If this is acceptable by everyone, I will coordinate a 
date when the change must be completed so that everyone’s on board. 
 
If you do not decide you want to match the prices of [Competitor B], I will 
match your prices upon receiving your reply or within 48 hours, whichever 
comes first, this will make [Competitor A] obviously change his prices as 
well and we will all be at a lower price. 
 
If you, or [Competitor A] cannot make it in this industry at the same matched 
price as my company, then you need to fix your sites, work on advertising, seo 
etc...  I make profit, when you and [Competitor A] have lower prices that my 
company. We need to all work together on this to bring the prices back up to 
where they should be.  Have you seen the prices on eBay?  I mean this is 
ridiculous. 
 
We all need to work together on keeping the prices where they should be.  We 
also need to have identical UPC packages or this will not work either. I will 
forward this message to [Competitor A] now. Let me know if you are 
interested in doing this or not.  Even though I am your competitor, you need to 
realize sometimes we have to work together shape up an industry. 

 
12. The next day, on August 5, Mr. Peretz forwarded Mr. Alifraghis’ message (see paragraph 

11 above) to Competitor A asking for Competitor A’s thoughts on the proposal to raise 
and fix prices: 

 
Good morning folks, 
 
I received this last night[. . . .] 
would love to get your thoughts on this. 
 
Best Regards, 
Phil 
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13. On August 6, Mr. Peretz emailed Mr. Alifraghis and Competitor A.  He stated that rather 
than raise price within the next 48 hours as proposed by Mr. Alifraghis, he would prefer 
to wait until Sunday, August 11, to raise his rates.  Mr. Peretz added a second condition: 
he wanted Instant to raise its prices first: 

 
We are open to what you suggest [. . .] and are willing to pull the trigger on this at 
midnight Sunday, August 11th.  
 
Since I am in the Pacific Time zone, this will give me the chance to see what you 
have done BEFORE I go live with my updated prices. 
 
I am not going to change my quantity breakdowns, but will meet those prices (I 
might stay higher in a few areas where it makes sense to me) but for all intent and 
purpose, the prices will be the same or higher.  I will base these on [Competitor 
B’s] prices as you suggest. 

 
* * * 

 
I will be ready to make this switch on Sunday Midnight and will look to you to 
lead the charge.  
 
I also look forward to increasing our revenues. 

 
14. Competitor A did not respond to the email from Mr. Alifraghis (see paragraph 11 above), 

and did not respond to the emails from Mr. Peretz (see paragraphs 12 and 13 above).  Mr. 
Peretz had a telephone conversation with a representative of Competitor A. 
 

15. On August 7, Mr. Peretz sent an email to Mr. Alifraghis and Competitor A trying to 
overcome what he perceived as an impasse in the planning to coordinate an increase in 
prices.  Mr. Peretz explained that a lack of trust was leading all three of the firms to make 
less money: 

 
It seems that we have hit an impasse. 
 
After some conversation with [Competitor A], the issue of trust came up. 
It seems that none of us really trust one another and the issue of “price fixing” 
with someone who is nameless becomes a sticking point.  We will not be doing 
this. 
 
We do agree that prices need to rise, but [Competitor A] is fairly satisfied with 
destroying the market with his 10,000 barcodes for 1,000. 
He blames you [. . .] I blame him. 
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Like I said [. . .] none of us trust one another [. . .] we first need to resolve this 3-
way issue of ethics. 
 
In the meantime [. . .] we will all be making less money. 

 
16. Mr. Alifraghis feared that Competitor A was not ready and willing to cooperate with the 

proposal to raise prices.  On August 9, Mr. Alifraghis transmitted another message to Mr. 
Peretz via Nationwide’s website, urging his competitors to see the benefits to all the 
companies of collusive pricing: 

 
I personally think that [Competitor B’s] prices are TOO low, but he is the highest 
priced out of all of us and it[’]s for a good reason, not only does he want higher 
revenues from his established customers, but he wants to keep the pricing higher 
for a reason. 
 
All of our pricing should be something like this: 
 
1 UPC - $39 
5 UPC’s - $ 159 
10 UPC’s - $219 
and so on[. . . .] 

 
The best part is that the above pricing is not even the top tier of how high it could 
be.  Not only would this improve the quantity of overall but also the amount of 
revenue per sale. 

 
* * * 

 
If you want to make money now and in the future, we all need to raise our pricing. 

 
* * * 

 
I sincerely believe that [N]ationwide is an asset to this industry based on his 
dedication. I also commend [N]ationwide since I can sincerely see that he 
understands this logic. Since I know that [N]ationwide is willing to move forward 
with these price changes, I can see that he clearly understands the reasoning 
behind what [I]’m saying. Therefore this message is directly aimed at 
[Competitor A]. 
 
[Competitor A], if you cannot truly grasp my reasoning behind why everything 
[I]’ve said so far is logical and you are not willing to change your prices [. . .] 
then I understand that is a decision you can choose to make. However, since I 
believe you are incorrect about this decision, I do not have to continue business at 
the pace you decide to move. 
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I believe competition is good for every industry as things only improve within 
time. The problem is, your decisions have an effect on not only you, but also for 
me and others in the business. I am a man of my word and I reached out to you 
which means I take this business very seriously. You may not and that may be 
your problem but it doesn’t have to be mine. I’m not in business to make pennies 
and [I]’m not a charity. I’m in business because [I]’m here for profit, not bad 
decisions. 
 
This is what I will leave you with [. . .] You need to make a responsible and 
logical decision by changing your prices. . . . This is the final and last straw for 
me to play these games like this. If you decide you don’t want to keep the 
longevity of the business, I can easily put up 3-6 more sites and push everyone 
lower. 

 
* * * 

 
I respect everyone in this business and industry even though you are my 
competitors.   
 

Mr. Peretz forwarded this August 9 message from Instant to Competitor A.   
 

17. On August 11, Mr. Peretz emailed Mr. Alifraghis and Competitor A asking each of them 
to confirm their “intentions” with regard to the price-fixing scheme under discussion. 
 

18. Mr. Alifraghis responded with another message transmitted through Nationwide’s 
website.  Mr. Alifraghis’ message stated that Instant would increase prices only after 
receiving assurances from Competitor A: 

 
When I thought we were ALL on board, I was willing to change my prices first so 
that you could see my intentions were obviously real which is why I contacted 
you both about this. 
 
We’ll see what he says about changing ALL of his prices to match [Competitor 
B].  If he agrees to change ALL of his prices, I will still change mine first so that 
everyone can see my intentions are as good as my word. 
 
You or [Competitor A] may not know me or trust me or even want to know me or 
trust me, but I can assure you that I’m a man of my word. If I make a promise, I 
will stick to it.  From what I see, [Competitor A] doesn’t seem to take this 
business as seriously as everyone else, who knows maybe he will come around. 
 
Until [Competitor A] agrees to change all of his prices, I will not change mine 
first.  I know that YOU are on board with the price changes, but like I said it 
won’t work if just me and you change our prices. We’ll just be handing free sales 
to [Competitor A].  I am not interested in handing my sales to anyone, I am 
interested in bringing the prices back up where they need to be. 
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I don’t mind being the first to change my prices, but everyone needs to be in 
agreement. 

 
19. On August 11, the price increase discussed by the barcode competitors in multiple email 

messages failed to materialize.  Two days later, on August 13, Mr. Peretz wrote again to 
Instant and Competitor A.  Mr. Peretz implored his competitors to continue their dialogue 
and to take the opportunity presented to raise prices.  Mr. Peretz advised his competitors  
--  incorrectly --  that their joint actions would not constitute illegal collusion on price: 

 
This is a dialog [. . .] a dialog is a very good thing and it seems, regardless of how 
I feel about each of you and how you feel about each other or me, this is an 
opportunity to increase profitability.  All it takes is conversation and a leap of 
faith. 
 
This is the opportunity that we have all wanted [. . .] to be able to increase our 
prices and to make some money. 

 
I am higher than you fellows…the sign of good intent would be to meet my 
prices, then [. . .] over the next several months, increase our prices to where they 
should be.  As we each observe where the other is at, we adjust our prices 
accordingly. 
 
This is, however, a slippery slope, and could be misconstrued as collusion, which 
is illegal. 
 
It is not illegal, however, for one of us to raise our prices and then have others 
follow. 

 
Our discussion has NOT been price fixing, merely a courtesy that we will meet 
each other’s prices [. . .] even if we have to raise them to do this. 

 
20. When Mr. Peretz did not hear back from his competitors, he threatened to lower his 

prices to punish his rivals for not entering into a price-fixing conspiracy.  Mr. Peretz’s 
August 19 email to Instant and Competitor A stated: 

 
Gentlemen,  
Have we given up on this conversation? 
 
This is the busiest time of year... and I am considering meeting and/or beating 
your prices. Would like to see what your thoughts are before I screw up our 
industry even more.  
 

21. Mr. Alifraghis replied to Nationwide later that evening renewing his plea for Nationwide 
to obtain Competitor A’s cooperation in the plan to raise prices.  Mr. Alifraghis also 
threatened to lower prices to punish its rivals if they did not agree to set higher prices: 
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Nationwide, This is the problem [. . .] you are not accepting responsibility for 
YOUR own actions. You brought us here to this moment. YOU brought us here, 
if you would have stopped lowering your prices, YOU wouldn’t be here in this 
situation.  I can care less if you match my prices, that would be a smart move for 
you at this point. But if you go lower, I will continue to bring the entire industry 
to ground zero. 
 
You going lower than me will do nothing for you, because I’ll be right there or if 
[Competitor A] goes lower I’ll still be right there matching both of you. You’re 
still going to have the same problems. 

 
* * * 

 
I’ll change my prices and put everyone out of business tomorrow.  I’ll put the 
prices so low, there will be no profits PERIOD. 

 
* * * 

 
I messaged you both to bring the prices up, not go down.  [Competitor A] is your 
problem[. . . .] [G]et him to agree to matching [Competitor B’s] prices and I’ll 
change mine before everyone [. . .] like I said. 

 
* * * 

 
If you both don’t wanna raise your prices [. . .] just keep going lower and lower 
and lower.  I don’t mind, go either direction you decide I’ll be right there 
matching the prices. . . . I’ll surprise the both of you with the lowest prices you’ve 
ever seen. You are pushing me to put everyone out of business. 
 

22. Mr. Peretz and Mr. Alifraghis continued to exchange communications about price levels 
into January 2014.  On October 21, 2013, Mr. Alifraghis contacted Nationwide and 
complained that its prices were too low.  Mr. Peretz responded by claiming that Instant 
was priced lower than Nationwide.  On January 6, Mr. Alifraghis contacted Nationwide 
and complained that Competitor A and Competitor B had lowered their prices.  
Nationwide responded by stating that, “If you want to be colleagues, certainly we can,” 
but that Mr. Alifraghis had shown a lack of respect for Nationwide’s business.   
 

23. The FTC served a subpoena on Nationwide in January 2014.   
 

VIOLATION CHARGED 
 

24. As set forth in Paragraphs 10 through 23 above, Respondents invited their competitors to 
collude with 680 Digital to raise prices for barcodes in violation of Section 5 of the 
Federal Trade Commission Act, as amended. 

 



10 
 

25. The acts, policies and practices of Respondents, as alleged herein, constitute unfair 
methods of competition in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5 of the Federal 
Trade Commission Act, as amended.  Such acts, policies and practices of Respondents 
will continue or recur in the absence of appropriate relief. 
 

 WHEREFORE, THE PREMISES CONSIDERED, the Federal Trade Commission on 
this       day of                                         , 2014, issues its complaint against Respondents. 
 
 By the Commission. 
 
 
      Donald S. Clark 
      Secretary 
SEAL: 


